

WORKING PAPER SERIES No 2013/8

THE 'SINGLE SUPERVISORY MECHANISM': A MAJOR BUILDING BLOCK TOWARDS A EUROPEAN BANKING UNION (THE FULL EUROPEANISATION OF THE 'BANK SAFETY NET')

by Professor Christos Vl. Gortsos

May 2013



WORKING PAPER SERIES No 8 / May 2013

THE 'SINGLE SUPERVISORY MECHANISM': A MAJOR BUILDING BLOCK TOWARDS A EUROPEAN BANKING UNION (THE FULL EUROPEANISATION OF THE 'BANK SAFETY NET')

Christos VI. Gortsos Associate Professor of International Economic Law, Panteion University of Athens, Visiting Professor, Europa-Institut, Universität des Saarlandes, and Law School Faculty, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens

This paper can be downloaded without charge from http://www.ecefil.eu



© ECEFIL, 2013

Address

Panteion University of Social and Political Sciences Department of International and European Studies 136 Sygrou Ave. GR-17671, Athens Greece

Internet http://www.ecefil.eu

Contact info@ecefil.eu

Coordinator, Design ECEFIL, Dr. Ziakou Sophia

All rights reserved



The 'single supervisory mechanism': a major building block towards a European Banking Union (the full Europeanisation of the 'bank safety net')

Professor Christos VI. Gortsos*

May 2013

Paper to be included in the proceedings of the 2nd Annual Research Conference of the International Association of Deposit Insurers (IADI, 2 April 2013), to be published in the Association's website. Cut-off date for data included therein is 1 May 2013

Abstract

The aim of this paper is to analyse the main provisions of the two European Regulations on the creation of the 'single supervisory mechanism', which is a major building block of the European Banking Union.

Section A provides a historical overview of the issues at hand. In section B, the main elements of the proposed institutional framework are presented. Section C discusses, in particular, the specific tasks conferred on the European Central Bank and their discharge within the framework of the 'single supervisory mechanism'. Other provisions of the Council Regulation proposal are briefly outlined in Section D. Concluding remarks are presented in Section E.

Christos Gortsos is Associate Professor of International Economic Law at Panteion University of Athens, and visiting Professor at the Law School of Athens and the European Institute of Saarland University. He is teaching and writing in international and European monetary and financial law, as well as economic analysis of law. Since 2005, he is a member of the Monetary Committee of the International Law Association (MoComILA), since 2010 member of the Management Committee of ECEFIL, and since 2012 member of the European Group of Public Law (EGPL). Apart from his academic career, Professor Gortsos, member of the Athens Bar Association, is since July 2000 the Secretary General of the Hellenic Bank Association.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

A. Issues at hand - a historical overview7
1. Provisions of primary European Union law7
2. The <i>de Larosière Report</i> (2009)9
3. The impact of the current fiscal crisis on the euro area10
4. The subject of this article
B. The main elements of the proposed institutional framework16
1. General overview
2. Deciding on the actor: conferment <i>on the European Central Bank</i> of specific tasks relating to the micro-prudential supervision of certain financial firms16
3. Setting the perimeter: specific tasks conferred on the European Central Bank exclusively in relation to the micro-prudential supervision of certain credit institutions
4. Establishment of a 'single supervisory mechanism' in relation to the performance/discharge of the specific tasks conferred on the ECB22
5. The 'single supervisory mechanism' as part of the European System of Financial Supervisors (ESFS)
6. Creation of 'Chinese walls'
C. In particular: specific tasks conferred on the ECB and their discharge within the framework of the 'single supervisory mechanism'
1. Individual specific tasks conferred on the ECB
2. The manner in which specific tasks are to be performed within the framework of the 'single supervisory mechanism'
D. Other provisions of the Council Regulation proposal: an overview
E. Final remarks
Secondary sources



A. Issues at hand - a historical overview

1. Provisions of primary European Union law

The launch on 1 January 1999 of the Economic and Monetary Union (hereinafter 'EMU') within the European Union (hereinafter the 'EU') did not bring about any changes to the regime on the authorisation and micro-prudential supervision of credit institutions incorporated in euro area Member **States**. Contrary to the definition and implementation of the single monetary and foreign exchange policy, for which competences became supranational, the European Central Bank (hereinafter 'ECB') has not shifted into a supranational supervisory authority for the financial system, or even at least one of its sectors, given that relevant competences have remained with Member States.¹

Competent both for the authorisation and micro-prudential supervision of EU credit institutions are the authorities designated as such by the member states.² This was also explicitly provided in **Article 105**, **para. 5** of the Treaty establishing the European Community (hereinafter 'TEC')³ (carried over *verbatim* in **Article 3.3** of the Statute of the European System of Central Banks and the ECB),⁴ stipulating that:

"the ESCB shall contribute to the smooth conduct of policies pursued by the competent authorities relating to the prudential supervision of credit institutions and the stability of the financial system".⁵

The relevant competence of the ECB was mainly to submit opinions, in accordance with **Article 105, para. 4 of the TEC**, within the limits and under the conditions set out in **Decision 98/415/EC of the Council**,⁶ issued on the basis of Article 105, para. 5.⁷

The Treaty of Lisbon did not amend these provisions. They are repeated *verbatim* in **Article 127, para. 5,** and **127, para. 4,** respectively, of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (hereinafter 'TFEU')⁸ and continue to be in force.⁹

³ OJ C C 325, 24.12.2002, pp. 33 f.

⁴ Protocol No. 4 TEU and TFEU (OJ C 83, 30.3.2010, pp. 230-250).

⁹ The provisions of Article 127, para. 6 TFEU do not apply to Member States with a derogation (Article 139, para. 2, point 3 TFEU, and Statute of the ESCB and the ECB, Article 42.1, respectively), including to the United Kingdom (in particular, Protocol No. 15 (OJ C 83, 30.3.2010, pp. 284-286)).



¹ For a summary of the different proposals with regard to the creation of one or more supranational financial supervisory authorities in the EU, see Lastra (2006), p. 324-328, and Hadjiemmanuil (2006), p. 818-82.

 $^{^2}$ **Directive 2006/48/EC**, article 4, point 4. These supervisory authorities have also (extensive or limited, as the case may be) regulatory powers, as well the power to impose sanctions. Accordingly, it would not be inappropriate to refer to them as supervisory *and* regulatory authorities.

⁵ These provisions were in force since the launch of Stage III of the EMU (Article 116, para. 3, second indent TEC, with a reference to the provisions of Article 105, para. 5). For a historical background of their content, see Smits (1997), p. 334-350, Andenas. Gormley, Hadjiemmanuil and Harden (1997), pp. 386-394, Lastra (2006), p. 216-222,, Louis (2009), p. 162-166 (with specific reference to the powers of the ESCB during the recent (2007-2009) international financial crisis), and Lastra and Louis (2013), pp. 82-94.

⁶ OJ L 189, 3.7.1998, pp. 42-44.

⁷ OJ L 189, 3.7.1998, pp. 42-44.

⁸ OJ C 83, 30.3.2010, pp. 47-199.

However, the TEC also contained an enabling clause (known as 'sleeping beauty clause' (Article 105, para. 6, now Article 127, para. 6 of the TFEU)), according to which:

"The Council, acting by means of regulations in accordance with a special legislative procedure, may unanimously, and after consulting the European Parliament and the European Central Bank, confer specific tasks upon the European Central Bank concerning policies relating to the prudential supervision of credit institutions and other financial institutions with the exception of insurance undertakings".¹⁰

It is worth noting that:

- any Regulation adopted on the basis of this Article has to be issued by the Economic and Financial Affairs Council (hereinafter 'ECOFIN Council') in accordance with a special legislative procedure (Article 289, para. 2 **TFEU**), in which the European Parliament's contribution (along with that of the ECB) is limited to an advisory role, and
- such a Regulation must be unanimously approved by the ECOFIN Council.

The only component of the bank safety net which has already been Europeanised is the macro-prudential oversight of the European financial system in the context of the functioning of the European Systemic Risk Board since 1 January 2011^{11} on which specific tasks have been assigned to the European Central Bank.¹²

On the other hand, the function of central banks as lenders of last resort lacks a legal basis (following the principle of 'constructive ambiguity'). Even within the Eurozone, this function is considered to be a task for national central banks. Indeed, 'Emergency Liquidity Assistance' (ELA) is granted:

- by national central banks of the Member States whose currency is the euro,¹³
- to individual solvent credit institutions facing temporary liquidity problems¹⁴, and
- against collateral that is not eligible for the ECB's monetary policy operations.

The fact that micro-prudential supervision of credit institutions does not form part of the ECB's tasks is one of the two main asymmetries of the EMU. The other is the fact that, while within the framework of the 'monetary union', the Union has exclusive competence on monetary policy (Article 3, para. 1(c) TFEU), the same does not hold for fiscal policy within the framework of the 'economic union' (ibid., Article 5, para. 1).

¹⁰ On the history of this article, see Smits (1997), p. 355-360, Andenas. Gormley, Hadjiemmanuil and Harden (1997), pp. 402-403, Lastra (2006),, Louis (2009), p. 166-168, and Lastra and Louis (2013), pp. 82-94.

¹¹ Regulation (EU) no. 1092/2010 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 24 November 2010 "*on European Union macro-prudential oversight of the financial system and establishing a European Systemic Risk Board*", OJ L 331, 15.12.2010, p. 1-11.

¹² Council Regulation (EU) No 1096/2010 of 17 November 2010 "*conferring specific tasks upon the European Central Bank concerning the functioning of the European Systemic Risk Board*», OJ L 331, 15.12.2010, p. 162-164.

¹³ The Governing Council of the ECB is allowed to prohibit this, if it is in conflict with the objectives and the tasks of the ECB, according to Article 14.4 of the Statutes of the ESCB and the ECB.

¹⁴ The ECB remains responsible for providing liquidity to the financial system as a whole through its monetary policy operations.

ELA has been activated with regard to Irish and Greek credit institutions during the current Eurozone fiscal crisis (2012-2013).

2. The de Larosière Report (2009)

The academic debate on the creation of supranational supervisory authorities for the European financial system can be basically traced back to the mid-2000s.¹⁵ On a political level, this prospect was essentially put forward, for the first time, in 2009 by the *de Larosière Report*,¹⁶ following the onset of the recent international financial crisis.¹⁷ This report concluded that contrary to macro-prudential oversight, micro-prudential supervision of the European financial system should not be assigned to the ECB.¹⁸ On the contrary, it proposed the creation of a European System of Financial Supervisors (hereinafter 'ESFS'), which is operational since 1 January 2011, and consists of:

- three 'European Supervisory Authorities', which are nonetheless mainly regulatory authorities and only exercise supervisory competencies in exceptional circumstances,¹⁹ and
- the above-mentioned European Systemic Risk Board (hereinafter 'ESRB'), responsible for the macro-prudential oversight of the financial system within the EU (rather than merely the euro area), with regard to which 'specific tasks' have been assigned to the ECB pursuant to the above-mentioned Article 127, para. 6 of the TFEU.

As a result, the creation of the ESFS did not \Box literally speaking \Box lead to the creation of supervisory authorities of the financial system at EU level.

¹⁵ See, merely by means of indication, **Lastra (2006)**, pp. 324-328 (with extensive further bibliographical references).

¹⁶ The High-Level Group on Financial Supervision in the EU, Chaired by Jacques de Larosière, Report, Brussels, 25 February 2009. This Report is available at: <u>http://ec.europa.eu/commission_barroso/president/pdf/statement_20090225_en.pdf</u> (hereinafter the 'De Lariosière Report').

 $^{^{17}}$ On this crisis, see indicatively **Gortsos (2012b)**, pp. 127-129, with extensive further references.

¹⁸ **De Larosière Report (2009)**, para. 146. This report (Chapter III, Section V "*Reviewing and possibly strengthening the European System of Financial Supervision*") also includes a proposal on the possibility of moving towards a system which would rely only on two Authorities – apart from the ECB – mainly following the 'functional approach' pattern in relation to the institutional set-up of the financial system's micro-prudential supervision (currently in use in the Netherlands and, as of April 2013, in the United Kingdom).

As regards this approach, as well as its alternatives, i.e. the 'sectoral approach' and the 'full integration approach' for supervisory authorities of the financial system, see Lastra (2006), pp. 324-328, Group of Thirty (2008), Seelig and Novoa (2009), and Central Bank Governance Group (2011).

¹⁹ On these Authorities, see below under B.5.

3. The impact of the current fiscal crisis on the euro area

3.1 Towards a 'European Banking Union'

The current fiscal crisis in the euro area, which became manifest in 2010,²⁰ triggered – just a year following the publication of the *de Larosière Report* – a new debate on the need to set up supranational supervisory authorities for the European financial system. At the current juncture, the debate has taken on a broader focus, with a view to creating a 'European Banking Union',²¹ which would lead to setting up at European (Union) level a fully Europeanised 'bank safety net'²² consisting of:

- a single supervisory mechanism exclusively for the banking sector (that is, not for the other two sectors of the financial system),
- a single resolution authority for unviable credit institutions, and a single resolution fund to cover any capitalisation needs or funding gaps, provided that a decision is made in favour of the resolution of unviable credit institutions,²³
- a single deposit guarantee scheme, and
- a 'single rulebook'²⁴ that will cover all the above aspects, on the basis of a 'total harmonisation approach".²⁵

To the author's opinion the only elements of the bank safety net on which provisions are not yet in hand are those on the reorganisation and winding-up of credit institutions. It is also questionable whether the ELA for credit institutions directly supervised by the ECB will remain with the national central banks in the Eurozone, as currently.

²⁴ The term 'single rulebook' is commonly used, from a *stricto sensu* perspective, to refer to the **total harmonisation** of the rules pertaining to the micro- and macro-prudential regulation of credit institutions, adopted at three levels:

- at 'Level 1' by the European Parliament and the (ECOFIN) Council in the form of Regulations and Directives,
- at 'Level 2' by the European Commission in the form of regulatory and implementing technical standards, and
- at 'Level 3' by the European Banking Authority in the form of recommendations and guidelines (see on this **Gortsos (2011**)).

From a *lato sensu* perspective, however, the single rulebook should also refer to the *full harmonisation* of rules pertaining to the resolution of credit institutions and the operation of the single deposit guarantee scheme.

²⁵ To the author's opinion, the term 'total hamonisation' denotes a combination of full (in terms of scope) and maximum (in terms of level) harmonisation.



²⁰ For an evaluation of this crisis, see **Eichengreen**, **Feldmann**, **Liebman**, **von Hagen and Wyplosz** (2011), pp. 47-64, and **Stephanou** (2012).

²¹ For arguments in favour or against setting up a European banking union, see (in chronological order) Carmassi, Di Noia and Micossi (2012), Pisani-Ferry, Sapir, Véron and Wolff (2012), Constâncio (2012), and Pisani-Ferry and Wolff (2012).

 $^{^{22}}$ For an overview of the components of the 'bank safety net', aimed at contributing to the stability of the banking system, see **Gortsos (2012b)**, pp. 90-106.

²³ If, in the context of resolution, the decision is made to have recourse to the tool of a 'bridge bank', this bank has to be capitalised. If the tool of 'asset transfer' to an existing credit institution is preferred, a 'funding gap' emerges as a result of the mismatch between assets and liabilities (the value of the latter is greater) transferred onto the existing credit institution.

3.2 The political decisions of **29** June 2012 and the response of the European institutions

(a) At the 29 June 2012 Euro Area Summit, the euro area Heads of State or Government asked the European Commission to present specific legislative proposals on the establishment of a single supervisory mechanism over credit institutions, in the context of a wider political initiative on the creation of a 'European Banking Union'. More particularly, the Statement of this Summit reads:

"We affirm that it is imperative to break the vicious circle between banks and sovereigns." 26

The European Summit which was held later on the same day decided²⁷ to invite the European Commission to develop, in close collaboration with the President of the Commission, the President of the Eurogroup and the President of the ECB, a specific and time-bound road map for the achievement of a genuine Economic and Monetary Union (in accordance with the relevant report tabled on 26 June of the same year by the President of the European Council),²⁸ one of the four elements of which was the creation of a European banking union.²⁹

(b) In response to this demand, the Commission issued on 12 September 2012:

- an Announcement regarding "A roadmap for a Banking Union",³⁰
- a proposal for a Council Regulation "conferring specific tasks on the European Central Bank concerning policies relating to the prudential supervision of credit institutions",³¹ and
- a proposal for a Regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council "amending Regulation (EU) No 1093/2010 establishing the European Supervisory Authority (European Banking Authority) as regards its interaction with Council Regulation (EU) No.../... conferring specific tasks on the European Central Bank concerning policies relating to the prudential supervision of credit institutions".³²

In the above-mentioned Announcement, the Commission called on the European Parliament and the (ECOFIN) Council to proceed with the following:³³

(i) Firstly, to reach agreement by end-2012 on the two (2) above-mentioned Regulation proposals, as a first step in the creation of a European Banking Union.

This could play a decisive role in assigning directly to the European Stability Mechanism $(ESM)^{34}$ the recapitalisation of credit institutions exposed to insolvency

²⁶ Euro Area Summit Statement, 29 June 2012, first paragraph, first sentence.

²⁷ European Council Conclusions, 28/29 June 2012, EUCO 76/12, paragraph 4(b).

²⁸ Van Rompuy Report (2012): *Towards a Genuine Economic and Monetary Union*, EUCO 120/12. The final relevant report was submitted in December 2012.

²⁹ Ibid., Section II.1.

³⁰ COM(2012) 510.

³¹ COM(2012) 511.

³² COM(2012) 512.

³³ COM(2012) 510, section 4.

³⁴ The ESM, based on an Intergovernmental Treaty signed by the seventeen (17) euro area Member States, has fully replaced the European Financial Stability Mechanism, fully operative since October 2012. For more details on both facilities, see **Stephanou** (2012), pp. 17-20.

and, consequently, reducing the public debt of Member States in which such credit institutions are incorporated. This prospect is explicitly mentioned in the abovementioned 29 June 2012 Euro Area Summit Statement:

"When an effective single supervisory mechanism is established, involving the ECB, for banks in the euro area the ESM could, following a regular decision, have the possibility to recapitalize banks directly."³⁵

(ii) Secondly, to approve, also by end-2012, the proposals for the Regulations and Directives (of the European Parliament and of the Council) on:

- amending the applicable framework on micro-prudential regulatory intervention in the banking system,³⁶
- setting up a new framework on macro-prudential regulatory intervention in the banking system, reflecting (in both cases) the relevant proposals of the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (also known as the 'Basel III framework'),³⁷

(a) Directive 2006/48/EC "relating to the taking-up and pursuit of the business of credit institutions (recast)" (OJ L 177, 30.6.2006, pp. 1-200) (also known as the 'Capital Requirements Directive' or 'CRD'), as amended by:

- Directive 2007/44/EC (OJ L 247, 21.9.2007, pp. 1-16),
- **Directive 2007/64/EC** (OJ L 319, 5.12.2007, pp. 1-36),
- Directive 2009/83/EC (OJ L 196, 28.7.2009, pp. 14-21),
- Directive 2009/110/EC (OJ L 267, 10.10.2009, pp. 7-17),
- Directive 2009/111/EC (OJ L 302, 17.11.2009, pp. 97-119, also known as 'CRD II'), and
- Directive 2010/76/EC (OJ L 329, 14.12.2010, pp. 3-35, also known as 'CRD III').

(b) Directive 2006/49/EC "on the capital adequacy of investment firms and credit institutions (recast)" (OJ L 177, 30.6.2006, pp. 201-255), as applicable.

³⁷ COM(2011) 452 final, and COM(2011) 453 final. More particularly:

- the proposal for a Regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council "on prudential requirements for credit institutions and investment firms" (also known as 'Capital Requirements Regulation', hereinafter 'CRR'), and
- the proposal for a Directive of the European Parliament and of the Council "on the access to the activity of credit institutions and the prudential supervision of credit institutions and investment firms and amending Directive 2002/87/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council on the supplementary supervision of credit institutions, insurance undertakings and investment firms in a financial conglomerate" (hereinafter 'CRD IV').



³⁵ Euro Area Summit Statement, 29 June 2012, first paragraph, fourth sentence. The underlying premise is to avoid the transfer of consequences of improper national supervisory practices onto the European level and, consequently, to the taxpayers of other Member States.

It should be noted, however, that the Finance Ministers of certain Member States (in particular, Germany, the Netherlands and Finland) argued that "direct bank recapitalisation by the ESM should take place based on an approach that adheres to the basic order of first using private capital, then national public capital and only as a last resort the ESM" (Joint Statement of the Ministers of Finance of Germany, the Netherlands and Finland, 25 September 2012).

³⁶ This regulatory framework is based on two legal acts of the European Parliament and of the Council:

- establishing pan-European rules on the recovery and resolution of **ailing** credit institutions (and investment firms),³⁸ and
- amending the existing regulatory framework³⁹ on deposit guarantee schemes.⁴⁰

(iii) Finally, to examine, in the medium term, how to shape the conditions for the establishment of:

- a single resolution authority for unviable credit institutions,
- a single resolution fund for covering funding gaps, provided that a decision is made in favour of the resolution of unviable credit institutions, and
- a single deposit guarantee scheme,

enabling the completion of the European Banking Union.

(c) On the basis of the Commission's proposals, the Council and the European Council have duly worked towards finalising the relevant institutional framework. On 21 March 2013, compromise texts on both Regulations were presented by the three corresponding European institutions in the 'trialogue' phase.

4. The subject of this article

The subject of this article is to provide a systematic overview (and, partly also, analysis) of the main provisions of the two above-mentioned Regulation proposals (based on these compromise texts), expected to be adopted in the coming months, i.e.:

- a (longer) proposal for a Regulation of the Council on "*conferring specific tasks on the European Central Bank concerning policies relating to the prudential supervision of credit institutions* (hereinafter 'Council Regulation proposal'), and
- a (shorter) proposal for a Regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council "amending Regulation (EU) No. 1093/2010 establishing a European Supervisory Authority (European Banking Authority) regarding its interaction with Council Regulation No.../... conferring specific tasks on the European Central Bank concerning policies relating to the prudential supervision of credit institutions□ (hereinafter 'European Parliament and Council Regulation proposal').

For a detailed overview of the rules included in the Basel III regulatory framework, see **Gortsos** (**2012b**), pp. 264-281.

³⁸ COM(2012) 280.

³⁹ **Directive 94/19/EC** of the European Parliament and of the Council (OJ L 135, 31.5.1994, pp. 5-14), as amended by **Directive 2009/14/EC** (OJ L 68, 13.3.2009, pp. 3-7).

⁴⁰ COM(2010) 369 final. For more details on the currently applicable European banking law, see **Tridimas (2011)**, and **Gortsos (2012a)**.

	TABLE 1				
The bank safety net: the in	nstruments used to safeguar sector	d the stability of the banking			
(elements in italics denote instruments mainly used after the recent (2007-2009) international financial crisis)					
Policy instruments	Competent institution	Attributes of the institution			
A. Prevention of crises					
Bank authorisation	Supervisory authority	Central bank or other administrative authority			
Micro-prudential and <i>macro-prudential regulation</i> of banks	 Parliament Supervisory authority	General regulatorUpon delegation			
Micro-prudential supervision of banks	Supervisory authority	Central bank or other administrative authority			
Macro-prudential oversight of the financial system (including the banking sector)	Specific authority with the active involvement of the central bank (in most cases)	Public authority			
	B. Crisis management				
Reorganisation of banks	• Supervisory authority	Central bank or other administrative authority			
Provision of state subsidies to systemically important banks (recapitalisation in the context of a 'taxpayers' solution')	Ministry of Finance (funds being part of the public debt)				
Other 'emergency' instruments: debt guarantees, asset purchase and guarantees, liquidity measures	Ministry of Finance and central bank				
Resolution of banks	• Resolution authority	Public authority			
	• Resolution fund	• A fund financed either by the public sector (part of its debt) or by credit institutions			
Winding-up of banks	Supervisory or judicial authority	On an <i>ad hoc</i> basis			
Deposit guarantee	Deposit guarantee scheme	Entity of private or public law			
Last-resort lending	Central bank				



TABLE 2				
Towards a European Banking Union:				
Elements of change and continuity (italics denote new elements)				
Financial policy instruments	Authority			
1. Authorisation and micro-prudential supervision of credit institutions	 'Single supervisory mechanism': European Central Bank (Article 127, para. 6 TFEU), and national supervisory authorities Single rulebook (adopted by the European Parliament and the ECOFIN Council (Regulations), the European Commission (technical standards), and the EBA (guidelines and recommendations)) 			
2. Micro- and macro-prudential regulation of credit institutions	Single rulebook			
3. Macro-prudential oversight of the financial system	European Systemic Risk Board			
4. Reorganisation and winding-up of credit institutions	National authorities and mutual recognition between Member States			
5. Resolution of credit institutions	Single resolution authority			
	• Single rulebook			
	• Single European resolution fund			
6. Operation of deposit guarantee schemes	Single European deposit guarantee systemSingle rulebook			
7. Last resort lending	No specific legal provision – <i>de facto:</i> national central banks (Emergency Liquidity Assistance (ELA) in the euro area)			
8. Provision of subsidies to systemically important credit institutions (recapitalisation in the context of a 'taxpayers' solution')	Potentially the ESM (conditioned on the provisions pertaining to resolution)			

B. The main elements of the proposed institutional framework

1. General overview

The new institutional framework, as set out in the provisions of the two abovementioned Regulation proposals, includes five (5) main elements, which reflect specific policy choices:

- conferring specific tasks *on the ECB* concerning the micro-prudential supervision of certain financial firms, in transfer from national supervisory authorities (see below, under 2),
- specifying the financial firms, mainly credit institutions, with regard to which these specific tasks will be conferred on the ECB (under 3),
- establishing a 'single supervisory mechanism' in relation to the *exercise* of the specific tasks conferred on the ECB (under 4),
- incorporating this 'single supervisory mechanism' in the European System of Financial Supervision (ESFS), without, in principle, touching upon the current tasks of the newly (2011) established European Banking Authority (under 5), and
- creating 'Chinese walls' within the ECB, in order to ensure the effective separation of its monetary and other tasks from its (future) supervisory tasks (under 6).

2. Deciding on the actor: conferment on the European Central Bank of specific tasks relating to the micro-prudential supervision of certain financial firms

First of all, the Council Regulation proposal includes a 'vertical' transfer, from the Member States to the European Union, of specific tasks concerning policies relating to the micro-prudential supervision of credit institutions,

"with a view to contributing to the safety and soundness of credit institutions and the stability of the financial system within the EU and each Member State, with full regard and duty of care for the unity and integrity of the internal market based on equal treatment of credit institutions with a view to preventing regulatory arbitrage."⁴¹

Among various alternative options that might have been implemented, the Commission opted for conferring the relevant 'specific tasks' on the ECB.⁴² As a result, the legal basis chosen for the Council Regulation was Article 127, para. 6 of the TFEU.⁴³

The alternative options were:

- either assigning micro-prudential supervision to one or more of the European Supervisory Authorities-members of the ESFS,
- or creating a new pan-European supervisory authority.

⁴¹ **Council Regulation proposal**, Article 1, first sentence.

⁴² Ibid., Article 1, first sentence.

⁴³ In reality, the European Commission did not have any choice but to opt for this particular legal basis, since the Euro Area Summit of 29 June 2012 had decided that: "the Commission will present proposals on the basis of Article 127(6) for a single supervisory mechanism shortly" (ibid., first point, second sentence). This decision was also confirmed by the European

Accordingly, once the Council Regulation is adopted, the scope of the ECB's tasks will be significantly broadened, since its tasks will consist of the following:

- the main tasks set out in Article 127, para. 2 TFEU, most notably the definition and implementation of the monetary policy of the Union, as the core of the European System of Central Banks (hereinafter 'ESCB'),
- other duties set out in the TFEU (including those under Article 128 TFEU concerning the issuance of euro banknotes and coins),
- the specific tasks assigned to it pursuant to **Council Regulation 1096/2010** (as already mentioned based on Article 127, para. 6 TFEU) concerning the macroprudential oversight of the European financial system in the context of the functioning of the European Systemic Risk Board, which is one of the components of the ESFS, and
- the specific tasks to be conferred to it pursuant to the Council Regulation proposal concerning issues of micro-prudential supervision of certain financial system participants (the proposed new category of tasks, also based on Article 127, para. 6 TFEU).

TABLE 3 ECB's tasks following the adoption of the Council Regulation proposal				
Category of ECB tasks	Legal basis	Implementation in euro area Member States	Implementation in Member States with a derogation	
1. Basic tasks	Article 127, para. 2 TFEU	Yes	No	
2. Other tasks	Several TFEU articles	Yes	As a rule, no	
3. <i>Specific</i> tasks on macro-prudential supervision over the European financial system	Regulation 1096/2010 of the Council (based on Art. 127, para. 6, of the TFEU)	Yes	Yes	
4. Specific tasks on micro-prudential supervision over credit institutions (new)	Council Regulation under preparation (based on Article 127, para. 6 of the TFEU)	Yes	Under the conditions of the 'close cooperation' procedure	

Council of the same day (European Council Conclusions, 28/29 June 2012, paragraph 4(b), *in finem*).

3. Setting the perimeter: specific tasks conferred on the European Central Bank exclusively in relation to the micro-prudential supervision of certain credit institutions

(a) The conferment upon the ECB of specific tasks in relation to the microprudential supervision of financial firms is proposed to cover exclusively:

- credit institutions,⁴⁴ and
- two categories of holding companies:

 \succ 'financial holding companies', in the context of the conduct of consolidated supervision of banking groups,⁴⁵ and

 \succ 'mixed financial holding companies', in the context of the conduct of supplementary supervision on financial conglomerates⁴⁶ including credit institutions, respectively.⁴⁷

By contrast, micro-prudential supervision will remain an exclusive national competence in relation to the following types of financial firms, which are regulated under European financial law:⁴⁸

- financial institutions (e.g., leasing, factoring and credit companies),⁴⁹ including, since 2009, electronic money institutions,⁵⁰
- payment institutions,⁵¹
- investment firms,⁵² UCITS management companies,⁵³ and alternative investment fund managers (mainly hedge funds),⁵⁴ as well as

⁴⁷ According to Article 127, para. 6 TFEU, the Council may confer specific tasks upon the ECB relating to the micro-prudential supervision of other types of financial institutions, as well.

It is worth mentioning that the wording of Article 127, para. 6 "*credit institutions and other financial institutions*" is inconsistent with the provisions of existing EU banking law (Directive 2006/48/EC), since the definition of financial institutions is different from that of credit institutions.

⁴⁸ **Council Regulation proposal**, Article 2, point 5, with a reference to Article 2, point 15, of Directive 2002/87/EC.

⁴⁹ For a detailed definition of the term 'financial institution' under EU financial law, see Article 4, para. 5 of Directive 2006/48/EC.

⁵⁰ Electronic money institutions were included among financial institutions (although initially falling under credit institutions) by means of Article 20 of **Directive 2009/110/EC**.

⁵¹ For a detailed definition of the term 'payment institution' under EU financial law, see Article 4, para. 4 of **Directive 2007/64/EC** of the European Parliament and of the Council (OJ L 319, 5.12.2007, pp. 1-35).

⁵² For a detailed definition of the term 'investment firm' under EU financial law, see Article 4, para. 1, point 1 **of Directive 2004/39/EC** of the European Parliament and of the Council (OJ L 145, 30.4.2004, pp. 1-44).

⁴⁴ **Council Regulation proposal**, Article 2, point 3, with a reference to Article 4, point 1, of Directive 2006/48/EC.

⁴⁵ Ibid., Article 2, point 4, with a reference to Article 4, point 19, of Directive 2006/48/EC.

⁴⁶ Ibid., Article 2, point 6, with a reference to Article 2, point 5, of **Directive 2002/87/EC** of the European Parliament and of the Council "firms in a financial conglomerate and amending Council Directives 73/239/EEC, 79/267/EEC, 92/49/EEC, 92/96/EEC, 93/6/EEC and 93/22/EEC, and Directives 98/78/EC and 2000/12/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council" (OJ L 35, 11.2.2003, pp. 1-27).

• insurance and reinsurance undertakings, the micro-prudential supervision of which could not have been conferred on the ECB without prior amendment of **Article 127, para. 6 TFEU**, as mentioned above.

(**b**) The scope of the relevant provisions covers mainly (but not exclusively) credit institutions incorporated in euro area Member States (hereinafter 'participating Member States').⁵⁵ Specific provisions apply to:

- branches in participating Member States of credit institutions incorporated in non-participating Member States (i.e., Member States with a derogation, see under C 1.2 below),
- credit institutions incorporated in non-participating Member States which have opted for this regime, i.e. for specific (supervisory) tasks to be performed by the ECB over their credit institutions (under C 1.3).

(c) The Commission's proposal was to submit, on a gradual basis, all credit institutions incorporated in participating Member States under the regime of the ECB's specific tasks. Nevertheless, certain Member States, including Germany, the Netherlands and Finland, voiced their opposition to all credit institutions incorporated within their jurisdiction being subjected to the ECB's micro-prudential supervision, pointing out that the micro-prudential supervision of smaller credit institutions, mainly those without cross-border activity doing business exclusively at local level (e.g., Sparkassen in Germany), should remain with national authorities.

Accordingly, **Article 5** of the Council Regulation proposal (as also in the March 2013 compromise text) introduces a 'two-tier system':

(ca) The ECB will be responsible for the micro-prudential supervision of 'significant' credit institutions, financial holding companies or mixed financial holding companies, i.e.:

(i) Unless justified by particular circumstances to be specified in the methodology, those that meet any one of the following conditions:

- the total value of their assets exceeds €30 billion,
- the ratio of their total assets over the GDP of the participating Member State of establishment exceeds 20%, unless the total value of its assets is below €5 billion, or
- following a notification by their national competent authority that it considers such institutions of significant relevance with regard to the domestic economy, the ECB takes a decision confirming such significance following a comprehensive assessment by the ECB, including a balance-sheet assessment, of these credit institutions.⁵⁶

(ii) The ECB may also, on its own initiative, consider an institution to be of significant relevance where it has established banking subsidiaries in more than one participating Member States and its cross-border assets or liabilities represent a

⁵³ For a detailed definition of the term 'UCITS management company' under EU financial law, see Article 2, para. 1, point (b) **of Directive 2009/65/EC** of the European Parliament and of the Council (OJ L 302, 19.11.2009, pp. 32-96).

⁵⁴ For a detailed definition of the term 'alternative investment fund manager' under EU financial law, see Article 4, para. 1, point (b) of **Directive 2011/61/EU** of the European Parliament and of the Council (OJ L 174, 1.7.2011, pp. 1-73).

⁵⁵ **Council Regulation proposal**, Article 2, point 1.

⁵⁶ Ibid., Article 5, para. 4, third sub-para.

significant part of its total assets or liabilities subject to the conditions laid down in the methodology.⁵⁷

(iii) Those for which public financial assistance has been requested or received directly from the EFSF or the ESM. 58

(iv) In any case, the three most significant credit institutions in each Member State, unless justified by particular circumstances.⁵⁹

(v) Finally, when necessary to ensure consistent application of high supervisory standards, the ECB may at any time, on its own initiative after consulting with national authorities or upon request by a national competent authority, decide to exercise directly itself all the relevant powers for one or more other credit institutions, including in the case where financial assistance has been requested or received indirectly from the EFSF or the ESM.⁶⁰

In principle, the ECB will assume its specific tasks 12 months after the entry into force of the Council Regulation (presumably in September 2013).⁶¹

(cb) The 'less significant' credit institutions, financial holding companies and mixed financial holding companies will continue to be supervised directly by their national authorities, subject to the ECB's regulations, guidelines and general instructions, within the framework of the 'single supervisory mechanism'.⁶²

⁵⁷ Ibid., Article 5, para. 4, fourth sub-para.

⁵⁸ Ibid., Article 5, para. 4, fifth sub-para.

⁵⁹ Ibid., Article 5, para. 4, sixth sub-para.

⁶⁰ Ibid., Article 5, para. 5(b).

⁶¹ Ibid., Article 27, para. 2, first sentence.

⁶² Ibid., Article 5, para. 5(a), first sub-para.

	ABLE 4 red on the European Central Bank exclusively in			
	supervision of certain credit institutions			
A. The perimeter in respect of different types of financial firms				
Included	Excluded			
 credit institutions 'financial holding companies', in the context of the conduct of consolidated supervision of banking groups, 'mixed financial holding companies', in the context of the conduct of supplementary supervision on financial conglomerates including credit institutions 	 financial institutions (e.g., leasing, factoring and credit companies), including, since 2009, electronic money institutions and payment institutions investment firms, UCITS management companies, and alternative investment fund managers (mainly hedge funds), as well as insurance and reinsurance undertakings 			
B. The perimeter in respect of Member States				
Euro area Member States	Non-participating Member States			
	 Specific rules on: branches in participating Member States of credit institutions incorporated in non-participating Member States credit institutions incorporated in non-participating Member States which have opted for this regime, i.e. for specific (supervisory) tasks to be performed by the ECB over their credit institutions 			
C. The perimeter in resp	ect of specific credit institutions			
1. In principle: those that meet any one of the feature of the f	ollowing conditions:			
• the total value of their assets exceeds \in	30 billion,			
	the GDP of the participating Member State of total value of their assets is below €5 billion , or			
institutions of significant relevance wi	ional competent authority that it considers such th regard to the domestic economy, the ECB takes ice following a comprehensive assessment by the ment, of these credit institutions.			
where it has established banking subsidiaries it	onsider an institution to be of significant relevance in more than one participating Member States and a significant part of its total assets or liabilities odology.			
3. Those for which public financial assistance EFSF or the ESM.	e has been requested or received directly from the			
4. In any case, the three most significant credit by particular circumstances.	institutions in each Member State, unless justified			
	tion of high supervisory standards, the ECB may at ng with national authorities or upon request by a			

any time, on its own initiative after consulting with national authorities or upon request by a national competent authority, decide to exercise directly itself all the relevant powers for one or more other credit institutions, including in the case where financial assistance has been requested or received indirectly from the EFSF or the ESM .



4. Establishment of a 'single supervisory mechanism' in relation to the performance of the specific tasks conferred on the ECB

The specific tasks to be conferred on the ECB will be carried out within the framework of a 'single supervisory mechanism' (hereinafter 'SSM') consisting of two (2) pillars: 63

- the ECB, and
- the competent national supervisory authorities, not necessarily national central banks, given that in many euro area Member States, micro-prudential supervision has been assigned to independent national authorities (other than the central bank) (hereinafter 'national competent authorities').⁶⁴

As a result, these tasks will be carried out based on the 'decentralisation principle', according to which national competent authorities will be the ECB's 'executive arm', exactly as in the case of euro area Member State central banks in the context of the implementation (and not definition of course) of the single monetary policy (for more detail see below, under C 2).⁶⁵ The national competent authorities will carry out day-to-day inspections, while all tasks not conferred on the ECB will remain with them.

In addition, the ECB will work in coordination with national competent authorities on the micro-prudential supervision of the less significant credit institutions (as mentioned above, under B 3).

5. The 'single supervisory mechanism' as part of the European System of Financial Supervisors (ESFS)

(a) The provisions of the two above-mentioned Regulation proposals are aimed at incorporating the SSM in the ESFS, which is in operation since 1 January $2011.^{66}$ In this respect:

- the SSM will become responsible for the micro-prudential supervision of credit institutions,
- the ESRB will continue to be responsible for the macro-prudential oversight of the European financial system, including the ECB (to which specific tasks have been assigned as already mentioned), and
- the 'European Banking Authority' (hereinafter 'EBA') established by **Regulation (EU) 1093/2010** of the European Parliament and of the Council⁶⁷ will continue to be responsible for contributing to the evolution of European banking law (with regard to micro- and macro-prudential regulation), as well as discharging the specific supervisory tasks conferred on it, in accordance with the provisions of its statutory Regulation.

⁶⁷ **Regulation (EU) No 1093/2010** of the European Parliament and of the Council of 24 November 2010 "*establishing a European Supervisory Authority (European Banking Authority), amending Decision No 716/2009/EC and repealing Commission Decision 2009/78/EC*", OJ L 331, 15.12.2010, pp. 12-47.



⁶³ Ibid., Article 5, para. 1.

⁶⁴ Ibid., Article 2, point 2.

⁶⁵ Statute of the ESCB and of the ECB, Article 14.3, point (a).

⁶⁶ On the composition of the ESFS, see **Gortsos (2011)**, pp. 10-14.

Within this context, the ECB is called upon to work closely with the three 'European Supervisory Authorities',⁶⁸ i.e.:

- the EBA,
- the European Insurance and Occupational Pensions Authority (hereinafter 'EIOPA') established by **Regulation** (EU) 1094/2010 of the European Parliament and of the Council,⁶⁹ and
- the European Securities and Markets Authority (hereinafter 'ESMA') established by **Regulation 1095/2010** of the European Parliament and of the Council.⁷⁰

(b) In accordance with the proposed regulatory framework, the ECB will not take on the EBA's tasks. It was, however, deemed necessary to introduce changes to certain provisions of Regulation 1093/2010 in order to bring EBA's functions (basically a regulatory, rather than supervisory, authority)⁷¹ in line with the ECB's function as a (future) supervisory authority over credit institutions.⁷² In this context, the proposal for a Regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council includes amendments to Regulation 1093/2010 on several aspects, such as:

(i) the reassessment of EBA's concrete tasks,⁷³

(ii) EBA's powers as regards action in emergency situations and mediation between competent authorities in cross-border situations,⁷⁴ and its powers to collect information from its national competent authorities,⁷⁵

⁶⁸ Council Regulation proposal, Article 3.

⁶⁹ **Regulation (EU) No 1094/2010** of the European Parliament and of the Council of 24 November 2010 "*establishing a European Supervisory Authority (European Insurance and Occupational Pensions Authority), amending Decision No 716/2009/EC and repealing Commission Decision 2009/79/EC*", OJ L 331, 15.12.2010, pp. 48-83.

⁷⁰ **Regulation (EU) No 1095/2010** of the European Parliament and of the Council of 24 November 2010 "*establishing a European Supervisory Authority (European Securities and Markets Authority), amending Decision No 716/2009/EC and repealing Commission Decision 2009/77/EC*", OJ L 331, 15.12.2010, pp. 84-119.

⁷¹ This is why the author is of the view that these are 'quasi'-supervisory authorities (**Gortsos** (2011), pp. 15-16). To put this into perspective, there are two innovative elements which point to a tendency for a gradual, albeit substantial, further strengthening of these Authorities' powers vis-à-vis national competent authorities:

⁽a) First of all, a partial reversal can be seen in the EBA's (as well as the other Authorities') right to replace national competent authorities, if the latter fail to comply with the European Commission's opinions or EBA's decisions, as laid down in **Articles 17-19** of Regulation 1093/2010.

⁽b) Furthermore, the supervision of credit rating agencies operating in the European Union has been specifically (and directly) assigned to ESMA, in accordance with Regulation (EU) No **1060/2009** of the European Parliament and of the Council '*on credit rating agencies*' (OJ L 302, 17.11. 2009, pp. 1-31), as modified by **Regulation** (EU) No **513/2011** (OJ L 145, 31.5.2011, pp. 30-56) (ibid., p. 16-17).

 $^{^{72}}$ The legal basis of this Regulation proposal is Article 114 **TFEU**, which is also the legal basis of Regulation 1093/2010.

⁷³ European Parliament and Council Regulation proposal, Article 1, point 1, amending Article 1 of Regulation 1093/2010.

⁷⁴ Ibid., Article 1, points 2 and 3, amending Article 18(1) of Regulation 1093/2010, and adding a new paragraph (3a) to Articles 18 and 19.

(iii) EBA's Board of Supervisors, and in particular:

- the composition of its two 'independent panels', their voting modalities and rules of procedure,⁷⁶
- the independence of the Board of Supervisors' members,⁷⁷ and
- the voting modalities in the Board of Supervisors,⁷⁸ as well as

(iv) the term of office of the members of EBA's Management Board.⁷⁹

Furthermore, in view of future developments, the Commission has to submit by 1 January 2016 a report on the suitability of the voting modalities of EBA's Board of Supervisors, the composition of the above-mentioned independent panels and the composition of EBA's Management Board.⁸⁰

(c) It should also be pointed out that Article 7 of the Council Regulation proposal stipulates that, without prejudice to the respective competences of the Member States and the other Union institutions and bodies, including the EBA, in relation to the tasks conferred on the ECB by the proposed Regulation, the ECB may develop contacts and enter into administrative arrangements with supervisory authorities, international organisations and the administrations of third countries, always subject to coordination with the EBA.⁸¹ Those arrangements shall not create legal obligations in respect of the EU and its Member States.⁸²

6. Creation of 'Chinese walls'

In the author's view, the creation of 'Chinese walls' within the ECB is an essential element in order to ensure the effective separation of its monetary and other tasks from its (future) supervisory tasks.

It is worth noting that although micro-prudential supervision over credit institutions has historically been the main competence of central banks in many countries (with the exception of a few central European states), in the course of the last twenty years, an ever increasing number of countries across the world have assigned this supervision to independent authorities other than the central bank.⁸³

This was based on the rationale that the exercise of supervisory powers by the central bank may give rise to conflicts of interest as far as the achievement of its monetary objectives is concerned (not least in terms of maintaining price stability).⁸⁴ However,

⁸⁰ Ibid., Article 2.

- ⁸¹ Ibid., Article 7, first sentence.
- ⁷⁰ Ibid., Article 7, second sentence.
- ⁸³ See Herring and Carmassi (2008).

⁸⁴ For a more detailed overview of arguments in favour and against the principle of separation of monetary and supervisory competences in central banks, see the fundamental work of **Goodhart** and Schoenmaker (1993), as well as **Goodhart (2000)**.

⁷⁵ Ibid., Article 1, point 4 (amending Article 35, paras. 1-3 of Regulation 1093/2010).

⁷⁶ Ibid., Article 1, point 5 (amending Article 41 of Regulation 1093/2010).

⁷⁷ Ibid., Article 1, point 6 (new paragraph added to Article 42 of Regulation 1093/2010).

 $^{^{78}}$ Ibid., Article 1, point 7, amending Article 44, para. 1 of Regulation 1093/2010 and adding a new paragraph 4(a).

⁷⁹ Ibid., Article , para. 8 (amending Article 45, para. 1, of Regulation 1093/2010).

this trend tends to be reversed in the aftermath of the recent international financial crisis as a result of the relevant failures attributed to independent supervisory authorities in many states.⁸⁵

The Council Regulation proposal lays down the following two (2) principles in this respect:

(a) When carrying out the specific tasks conferred upon it by the Regulation, the ECB must pursue exclusively the objectives set therein.⁸⁶

(b) The ECB must also carry out these tasks 'separately' from both the tasks relating to the definition and implementation of the single monetary policy and its other tasks, avoiding any interference between them. In particular:⁸⁷

"The ECB shall carry out the tasks conferred upon it by this Regulation without prejudice to and separately from its tasks relating to monetary policy and any other tasks. The tasks conferred upon the ECB by this Regulation shall neither interfere with, nor be determined by, its tasks relating to monetary policy The tasks conferred upon the ECB by this Regulation shall moreover not interfere with its tasks in relation to the European Systemic Risk Board or any other tasks. The ECB shall report to the European Parliament and to the Council as to how it has complied with this provision. The tasks conferred by this Regulation to the ECB shall not alter the ongoing monitoring of the solvency of its monetary policy counterparties. The staff involved in carrying out the tasks conferred on the ECB by this Regulation shall be organisationally separated from, and subject to, separate reporting lines from the staff involved in carrying out other tasks conferred on the ECB."

(c) For the above purposes, the ECB will adopt and make public any necessary internal rules, including rules regarding professional secrecy and information exchanges between the two areas of functions.⁸⁸

(d) The ECB will have to ensure that the operation of the Governing Council is completely differentiated as regards monetary and supervisory functions. Such differentiation must include strictly separated meetings and agendas.⁸⁹

(e) With a view to ensuring separation between monetary policy and supervisory tasks, the ECB will have to create a mediation panel. This panel:

- will resolve differences of views on the part of competent authorities of interested participating Member States regarding an objection of the Governing Council to a draft decision by the Supervisory Board,
- include one member per participating Member State, chosen by each Member State among the members of the Governing Council and the Supervisory Board, and
- decide by simple majority, with each member having one vote.⁹⁰

⁸⁵ See **Davies and Green (2010)**, pp. 187-213.

⁸⁶ Council Regulation proposal, Article 18, para. 1.

⁸⁷ Ibid., Article 18, para. 2.

⁸⁸ Ibid., Article 18, para 3.

⁸⁹ Ibid., Article 18, para 3(a).

⁹⁰ Ibid., Article 18, para 3(b).

C. In particular: specific tasks conferred on the ECB and their discharge within the framework of the 'single supervisory mechanism'

1. Individual specific tasks conferred on the ECB

1.1 Specific tasks in relation to credit institutions incorporated in participating Member States

The Council Regulation proposal confers on the ECB an extensive range of specific tasks in relation to credit institutions incorporated in participating Member States, covering the principal areas of micro-prudential supervision. More particularly, the ECB will be assigned tasks in relation to such credit institutions in accordance with the provisions of:

- the above-mentioned Directives 2006/48/EC and 2006/49/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council, as these will be replaced in the course of the coming months (and definitely before the full entry into operation of the SSM) by the above-mentioned proposals for a Regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council (hereinafter 'CRR'), and a Directive of the European Parliament and of the Council (hereinafter 'CRD IV'), and
- the above-mentioned proposal for a Directive of the European Parliament and of the Council on the recovery and resolution of unviable credit institutions, and, more specifically, its provisions on recovery measures.

The proposed specific tasks are the following:⁹¹

(a) Authorisation and withdrawal of authorisation of credit institutions.⁹²

(b) For credit institutions established in a participating Member State, which want to establish a branch or provide cross-border services in a non-participating Member State, the performance of tasks which would fall upon the competent authority of the home Member State under existing EU banking law.

(c) Assessment of acquisitions or disposals of qualifying holdings in credit institutions, except in the event of a bank resolution.⁹³

(d) Ensuring compliance on the part of credit institutions with EU banking law provisions on:

- micro-prudential regulation (rules on capital adequacy,⁹⁴ securitisations, large credit exposures,⁹⁵ liquidity,⁹⁶ and leverage of credit institutions⁹⁷), as well as
- public disclosure of information and data on those matters ('Pillar 3' of the current regulatory framework).⁹⁸

(e) Monitoring the implementation of EU banking law provisions by credit institutions, as to the existence of:

⁹¹ **Council Regulation proposal**, Article 4, para. 1. The range of the tasks as in the March 2013 compromise text is narrower than in the proposal of Commission in September 2012.

⁹² **Directive 2006/48/EC**, Articles 6-18, to be modified by Articles 9-21 of the CRD IV.

⁹³ **Directive 2006/48/EC**, Articles 19-21, to be modified by Articles 22-27 of the CRD IV.

⁹⁴ **Directive 2006/48/EC**, Articles 56-105, to be modified by Articles 22-399 of the CRR.

⁹⁵ **Directive 2006/48/EC**, Articles 106-119, to be modified by Articles 376-392 of the CRR.

⁹⁶ CRR, Articles 400-415.

⁹⁷ Ibid., Articles 416-417.

⁹⁸ **Directive 2006/48/EC**, Articles 145-149, to be modified by Articles 418-440 of the CRR.

- robust corporate governance arrangements, including the fit-and-proper requirements as regards persons responsible for the management of credit institutions, risk management processes, internal control mechanisms, remuneration policies and practices,⁹⁹ as well as
- effective internal capital adequacy assessment processes, including Internal Ratings Based models.¹⁰⁰

(f) Conduct of supervisory reviews of credit institutions, including, where appropriate, in coordination with the EBA, stress tests and their possible publication, and imposing (*ad hoc*) – on the basis of relevant findings and in accordance with EU banking law provisions ('Pillar 2' of the current regulatory framework) – specific additional own funds requirements, disclosure obligations, liquidity obligations and other micro-prudential measures.¹⁰¹

(g) As regards the micro-prudential supervision of banking groups on a consolidated basis:

- supervision on a consolidated basis over credit institutions' parent companies incorporated in one of the participating Member States, and
- participation in the supervision on a consolidated basis (including in colleges of supervisors) in relation to parent companies not incorporated in one of the participating Member States.¹⁰²

(h) In the area of supplementary supervision of financial conglomerates:

- participating in supplementary supervision in relation to the credit institutions included in such financial conglomerates, and
- assuming the tasks of a coordinator where the ECB is appointed as the coordinator for a financial conglomerate in accordance with relevant EU law provisions (Directive 2002/87/EC).¹⁰³

(i) Carrying out supervisory tasks in relation to recovery plans and 'early intervention', where a credit institution or group in relation to which the ECB is the consolidating supervisor does not meet or is likely to breach the applicable micro-prudential supervision requirements (including recovery plans and intra-group financial support arrangements) in coordination with competent resolution authorities.

1.2 Specific tasks concerning branches of credit institutions incorporated in nonparticipating Member States

As regards credit institutions incorporated in non-participating Member States, which have established a branch or provide cross-border services in a participating Member State (in accordance with the provisions of EU banking law),¹⁰⁴ it is proposed that the ECB should exercise the specific tasks mentioned above in cases where

⁹⁹ Ibid., Article 22, to be modified by Articles 72-74 and complemented by Articles 86-91 of the CRD IV.

¹⁰⁰ Ibid., Article 123, to be modified by Article 72 of the CRD IV.

¹⁰¹ Ibid., Article 124, to be modified by Article 105 of the CRD IV.

¹⁰² Ibid., Articles 125-143, to be modified by Articles 106-121 of the CRD IV.

¹⁰³ For more details on this Directive's provisions, see **Gortsos (2010)**.

¹⁰⁴ **Directive 2006/48/EC**, Articles 23-28, as modified by Articles 35-39 of the CRD IV.

national authorities are competent as host supervisors in accordance with the provisions of EU banking law. $^{105}\,$

1.3 Specific tasks in relation to credit institutions incorporated in nonparticipating Member States

Credit institutions incorporated in a non-participating Member State may also be subject to the supervisory authority of the ECB, once the procedure of 'close cooperation' provided for in Article 6, para. 1 (first sentence) of the Council Regulation proposal has been established.¹⁰⁶ This 'close cooperation' procedure will be established by an ECB Decision, if a non-participating Member State so wishes, provided that the other requirements under Article 6, para. 2 of the Council are met.

Paras. 4-6b of Article 6 set additional procedural requirements for the implementation of this 'close cooperation' procedure.

1.4 Regulatory powers

Without prejudice to the legal acts that constitute the sources of EU banking law (applied on credit institutions) and in compliance with the tasks to be conferred on it, the ECB will have the power to adopt guidelines and recommendations and take decisions to implement or apply these provisions, to the extent necessary to carry out these tasks.¹⁰⁷

2. The manner in which the specific tasks are to be performed within the framework of the 'single supervisory mechanism'

As already mentioned (under B 4 above), the specific **tasks to be assigned to** the ECB will be performed (according to **Article 5** of the Council Regulation proposal) within the framework of the SSM, consisting of the following pillars: the ECB itself and the national competent authorities (and not necessarily the national central banks) of the euro area Member States.¹⁰⁸ The same Article of the Regulation proposal lays down the following specific provisions establishing the 'decentralisation principle':

(a) Both the ECB and national competent authorities shall be subject to a 'duty of cooperation in good faith', and an obligation to exchange information. Without prejudice to the ECB's power to receive directly or have direct access to information reported, on an ongoing basis, by credit institutions, the national competent authorities shall in particular provide the ECB with all information necessary for the purposes of carrying out the tasks conferred upon the ECB. National competent authorities will have to assist the ECB on its request with the preparation and implementation of any acts relating to the specific tasks to be conferred on it.¹⁰⁹

¹⁰⁵ **Council Regulation proposal**, Article 4, para. 2. See **Directive 2006/48/EC**, Articles 29-37, to be modified by Articles 40-46 of the CRD IV.

¹⁰⁶ In accordance with the provisions of Article 6, para. 1 (second sentence) of this Regulation proposal, the ECB may address instructions to the national competent authorities of these Member States.

¹⁰⁷ Ibid., Article 4, para. 3. The ECB's regulatory power is based on Article 132, para. 1 TFEU.

¹⁰⁸ Ibid., Article 5, para. 1.

¹⁰⁹ Ibid., Article 5, para. 2.

(b) Where appropriate and without prejudice to the responsibility and accountability of the ECB for the tasks conferred on it, the national competent authorities will:

- be responsible for assisting the ECB with the preparation and implementation of any acts relating to these tasks concerning all credit institutions, including assistance in verification activities,
- have to follow the instructions given by the ECB when performing these tasks.¹¹⁰



¹¹⁰ Ibid., Article 5, para. 3.

D. Other provisions of the Council Regulation proposal: an overview

The Council Regulation proposal's provisions, apart from those mentioned above, regulate the following aspects of the ECB's function as supranational supervisory authority over the EU banking sector:

(a) They detail the ECB's and national competent authorities' investigatory powers (including requests for information, general investigations, on-site inspections, the authorisation by a judicial authority) and supervisory powers (such as those with regard to authorisation and the assessment of acquisitions of qualifying holdings, the powers of host authorities and cooperation in the case of consolidated supervision, and the right to impose administrative sanctions).¹¹¹

(b) They provide for the creation and operation, within the ECB \Box s framework, of an 'internal body', the Supervisory Board, responsible for "planning and executing" the ECB's specific tasks.¹¹² The Supervisory Board will be composed of:¹¹³

- a Chair, appointed by the Council (upon a proposal of the ECB and approval of this proposal by the European Parliament), and chosen on the basis of an open selection procedure from among individuals of recognised standing and experience in banking and financial matters (albeit excluding the members of the ECB Governing Council),¹¹⁴
- a Vice-Chair, appointed according to the same procedure and chosen from among the members of the Executive Committee of the ECB,
- four (4) representatives of the ECB appointed by the Governing Council of the ECB, and
- one representative of the national authority competent for the micro-prudential supervision of credit institutions in each participating Member State (given the current membership of the euro area, the Supervisory Board will have twenty-three (23) members).

A representative of the European Commission (but not of the EBA as was provided for in the Commission's proposal) may participate as observer in the meetings of the Supervisory Board, upon invitation.¹¹⁵

The Supervisory Board will establish a Steering Committee from among its members with a more limited composition. The main task of the Steering Committee, which will have no decision-making powers, will be to support the Board's activities, including preparation of its meetings.

As specified in the Explanatory Memorandum of the Council Regulation proposal, as submitted by the Commission in September 2012, the ECB Governing Council will be ultimately responsible for taking decisions, but may decide to delegate certain tasks or decision-making powers to the Supervisory Board.¹¹⁶

¹¹¹ Ibid., Articles 8-15.

¹¹² Ibid., Article 19, para. 1. Consequently, the Supervisory Board is not promoted to an ECB body, obviously in order to avoid an amendment to the TFEU.

¹¹³ Ibid., Article 19, paras. 1-2.

¹¹⁴ The Chair's proposed term of office is five (5) years and will not be renewable (ibid., Article 19, para. 2, last sentence).

¹¹⁵ Ibid., Article 19, para. 6.

¹¹⁶ Explanatory Memorandum, section 4.5.2, fourth sentence, along with Article 19, para. 3.

(c) Finally, the proposal also includes specific provisions on:

- the institutional independence of the ECB (including the members of its Supervisory Board) and the national competent authorities acting within the SSM with regard to the specific tasks conferred upon the ECB,¹¹⁷
- the accountability of the ECB before the European Parliament, national Parliaments, and the Council,¹¹⁸
- the professional secrecy of the members of the Supervisory Board and of the ECB staff carrying out the specific tasks to be conferred upon the ECB, as well as the exchange of information,¹¹⁹
- the ECB's obligation to devote the necessary financial and human resources to the exercise of the specific tasks to be conferred upon it,¹²⁰
- its budget and annual accounts,¹²¹
- its power to roll the cost of micro-prudential supervision over to credit institutions subject to supervision ('supervisory fees'),¹²² and
- the exchange and secondment of staff, under the responsibility of the ECB, with and among national competent authorities.¹²³

¹¹⁷ **Council Regulation proposal**, Article 16. The ECB's institutional independence, in relation to its main tasks, is laid down in **Article 130 of the TFEU.**

¹¹⁸ Ibid., Article 17, 21 and 23, para. 2. The ECB's accountability, in relation to its main tasks, is laid down in **Article 284, para. 3, of the TFEU**.

¹¹⁹ Ibid., Article 20.

¹²⁰ Ibid., Article 22.

¹²¹ Ibid., Article 23, para. 1.

¹²² Ibid., Article 24.

¹²³ Ibid., Article 25.

E. Final remarks

(a) The European Commission's proposals tabled on 12 September 2012 initiated a process – on the basis of the political decisions taken on 29 June – that will bring about a significant breakthrough in the functioning of the banking system in the euro area, without TFEU amendment.¹²⁴ Although the implementation timeframe for the proposals is still pending, there is no doubt that the micro-prudential supervision of certain credit institutions incorporated in euro area Member States is going to be conferred on the ECB, which will carry out the relevant specific tasks in cooperation with the national competent (supervisory) authorities, along with the other tasks already conferred upon it (particularly in relation to the definition and implementation of the single monetary policy in the euro area and the contribution to macro-prudential oversight of the European financial system).

These proposals are the first substantial step for the creation of a European Banking Union, the final stage of which will include setting up - as already mentioned in Section A of this article – at euro area level:

- a single supervisory authority over certain credit institutions (the ECB, as stipulated in the Council Regulation proposal),
- a single resolution authority,
- a single resolution fund for covering funding gaps, provided that a decision is made for the resolution of unviable credit institutions, and
- a single deposit guarantee scheme (which could be combined with the single resolution authority, by creating a 'European Deposit Insurance and Resolution Authority' or EDIRA).

(b) Once the Council Regulation is adopted in its current form, the ECB will be asked to submit proposals, inter alia, for:

- a Framework Regulation with regard to the SSM perimeter and the relations • between the ECB and the national supervisory authorities (according to Article 5 of the Council Regulation proposal),
- a Decision on close cooperation (according to Article 6 of the Council • Regulation proposal),
- a Regulation on supervisory fees,
- a Regulation on sanctions, and
- a Regulation setting up a mediation panel and its rules of procedure (according to Article 18, para. 3b of the Council Regulation proposal).

(c) There is no doubt that the above-mentioned proposals constitute a development of utmost importance to the EU internal market, and beyond. Once the authorisation and micro-prudential supervision of participating credit institutions is assigned to the ECB, government influence over credit institutions in these Member States will be significantly weaker.

¹²⁴ In the author's view, it would be necessary, for reasons of legal certainty, to amend Article 3, para. 1(c) TFEU, in order to specify that the Union now has exclusive competence on microprudential supervision over credit institutions incorporated in the euro area. The author understands, however, that such an amendment could be deemed excessive (particularly given the political difficulties that would arise from amending the TFEU merely for this reason), since the conferment upon the ECB of specific tasks concerning micro-prudential supervision of credit institutions may reasonably be argued to be based on Article 107, para. 6 TFEU, and thus covered, to a great extent, by the existing institutional framework of the EU.



The conditions under which credit institutions will invest in sovereign bonds will change substantially in future, since banks' dependence on Member States (where applicable) will be kept under bounds.¹²⁵ Weaning national banking systems from government influence could thus become an important springboard for creating institutional conditions that could lead to an EU fiscal union, provided the necessary political will exists.

(d) In accordance with the above-mentioned provisions of the Council Regulation proposal, mergers and acquisitions in the banking sector will be subject to approval by the ECB rather than national competent authorities. With this in mind, the European banking landscape will be shaped at supranational level in the next few decades, and, most definitely, this decade. In the author's view, this would lead to a greater degree of concentration in the European banking system and, as a result, to a very significant decline in the number of credit institutions operating across euro area Member States.

(e) The ECB's function as supervisory authority over participating credit institutions will have many positive effects. Without doubt, the ECB has the necessary expertise for discharging supervisory tasks over euro area credit institutions, particularly taking account of:

- its unquestionably successful contribution to the management of the recent international financial crisis, and
- its substantial contribution to addressing the current fiscal crisis in the euro area.

In this respect, the provisions of the Council Regulation proposal are positively evaluated by the author.

(f) However, these proposals need to be treated with some scepticism as well. There are two main reasons for this:

(i) Conferring supervisory competences over financial system participants to a monetary authority generally raises issues of potential conflicts of interests, particularly putting into question the ECB's ability – in its capacity as monetary authority – to consistently pursue its primary objective of maintaining price stability.¹²⁶

(ii) One cannot preclude the (undesirable) eventuality of one or more systemically important financial institutions under ECB supervision becoming insolvent in the first few years of the ECB's term of office as supervisory authority – which might also be attributed to a deficient performance of its duties -.¹²⁷ In that case, the ECB's reliability as monetary authority would be strongly called into question (not in terms of substance, but from a political point of view), with all the negative consequences that this would entail for the sustainability of the euro area.

¹²⁵ Here, it is worth pointing out the need to amend, in due course, the provisions of **Directive 2006/48/EC** (to be modified by the CRR), which stipulate, in relation to the calculation of capital requirements for credit risk, that claims on Member State governments in the form of bonds have a zero percent risk weight. The experience from the 'voluntary' haircut on Greek government bonds (see **Stephanou (2012)**, pp. 25-28) has shown that these provisions are now ineffective (apart from the fact that credit institutions are given perverse incentives when implementing capital adequacy rules).

¹²⁶ Article 127, para. 1, first sentence **TFEU**.

¹²⁷ This is, of course, a visible risk for all central banks with statutory competence on microprudential supervision over credit institutions, and it is one of the main concerns as to the assignment of such competencies to central banks.

(g) In conclusion, there must be quite an efficient planning of the institutional, organisational and operational framework governing the ECB's exercise of supervisory tasks over euro area credit institutions, including most notably 'Chinese walls' (as detailed above, under B 6), in order to ensure that the ECB's stature as institutional body is fully safeguarded. At the end of the day, the *onus* of the successful performance of these tasks will be on the ECB itself.



Secondary sources

Andenas, M., Gormley, L., Hadjiemmanuil, Ch, and I. Harden (1997): Banking Supervision, the Internal Market and European Monetary Union, in Andenas, M., Gormley, L., Hadjiemmanuil, C., and I. Harden (eds): *European Economic and Monetary Union - The Institutional Framework*, Chapter Eleven, International Banking, Finance and Economic Law Series, Kluwer Law International, United Kingdom, pp. 373-417

Beck, T. (2012): *Banking Union for Europe. Risks and Challenges,* Centre for Economic Policy Research (CEPR), London

Bofinger, P., Bush, Cl.M., Feld, L.P., Franz, W. and C.M. Schmidt (2012): From the internal market to a banking union: A proposal by the German Council of Economic Experts, *VOX*, 12 November

Carmassi, J., Di Noia, C. and S. Micossi(2012): Banking Union in the Eurozone and the EU, VOX, 13 June

Carmassi, J., Di Noia, C. and S. Micossi (2012): Banking Union: A federal model for the European Union with prompt corrective action, *CEPS Policy Brief*, No 282, 18 September

Central Bank Governance Group (2011): *Central Bank Governance and Financial Stability*, Report, Bank for International Settlements, May

Constâncio, V. (2012): *Towards a European Banking Union*, European Central Bank, Frankfurt am Main, 7 September

Darvas, Zs. and G. B. Wolff (2013): Should non-Euro Area countries join th single supervisory mechanism?, *Bruegel Policy Contribution*, Issue 2013/06, March.

Davies, H. and D. Green (2010): *Global Financial Regulation. The Essential Guide*, Polity Press, Cambridge, UK – Malden, USA

Eichengreen, B., Feldmann, R., Liebman, J., von Jürgen, H. and Ch. Wyplosz (2011): *Public Debts: Nuts, Bolts and Worries*, Geneva Report on the World Economy 13, International Center for Monetary and Banking Studies (ICMB), Geneva, Switzerland

Eijffinger, S. and R. Nijskens (2012): *Banking union and ambiguity: Dare to go further*, VOX, 23 November

Goodhart, C.A.E. (2000): *The Organizational Structure of Banking Supervision*, Financial Stability Institute, Bank for International Settlements, No. 1, Basel, October

Goodhart, C.A.E. and D. Schoenmaker (1993): Institutional Separation between Supervisory and Monetary Agencies, in Goodhart, C.A.E. (editor): *The Central Bank and the Financial System*, Macmillan Press, London

Gortsos, C.V. (2012a): Current Developments in European Banking Law, ECEFIL Working Papers, No. 5, July, available at: <u>http://www.ecefil.eu//UplFiles/wps/WORKING%20PAPER%20SERIES%2020</u> 12_5.pdf

Gortsos, C.V. (2012b): Fundamentals of Public International Financial Law: International Banking Law within the System of Public International Financial Law, Nomos Verlag, Baden-Baden **Gortsos, C.V. (2011)**: *The European Banking Authority within the European System of Financial Supervision*, ECEFIL Working Papers, No. 1, August, available at: <u>http://www.ecefil.eu//UplFiles/wps/WORKING%20PAPER%20SERIES%202011_1.pdf</u>

Gortsos C.V. (2010): The supervision of Financial Conglomerates under European Financial Law (Directive 2002/87/EC), *Banking & Financial Law Review*, 25, pp. 295-313

Goyal, R., Brooks, P.K., Pradhan, M., Tressel, Th., Dell' Ariccia, G., Leckow, R., Pazarbasioglu, C. and IMF Staff Team (2013): *A Banking Union for the Euro Area*, IMF Staff Discussion Note, SDN/13/01, International Monetary Fund, February

Group of Thirty (2008): *The Structure of Financial Supervision – Approaches and Challenges in a Global Marketplace*, Group of Thirty, Washington D.C.

Grubel, H. G. (1979): A Proposal for the Establishment of an International Deposit Insurance Corporation, *Essays in International Finance*, No. 133, Princeton, N. J., Princeton University, International Finance Section

Hadjiemmanuil, Ch. (2006): Economic and Monetary Union, Chapter 12, in Chalmers, D., Hadjiemmanuil, Ch., Monti, G. and A. Tomkins (editors): *European Union Law*, Cambridge University Press, p. 506-560

Herring, R.J. and J. Carmassi (2008): The Structure of Cross-Sector Financial Supervision, *Financial Markets, Institutions & Instruments*, Vol. 17, No. 1, February

House of Lords (2012): *European Banking Union: Key Issues and Challenges*, 7th Report of Session 2012-13, European Union Committee, HL Paper 88, London

Lastra, R.M. and J.V. Louis (2013): European Economic and Monetary Union: History, Trends, and Prospects, *Yearbook of Economic Law*, pp. 1-150

Lastra, R.M. (2013): Banking Union and Single Market: Conflict or Companionship?, *Fordham International Law Journal*, Volume 36, No. 5 (forthcoming)

Louis, J.-V. (2009): L'Union européenne et sa monnaie, in Commentaire J. Megret : *Integration des marchés financiers*, 3^e édition, Institut d' Etudes Européennes, Editions de l' Université de Bruxelles, Bruxelles

Lastra, R. M. (2006): Legal foundations of international monetary stability, Oxford University Press, Oxford-New York

Millar, A. (2012): *EU Banking Union – Operational Issues and Design Considerations*, Report prepared for the International Regulatory Strategy Group (IRSG), City of London, London, October

Pisani-Ferry, J. and G. B. Wolff (2012): The fiscal implications of a banking union, *Bruegel Policy Brief*, Issue 2012/02, September

Pisani-Ferry, J., Sapir, A., Veron, N. and G. B. Wolff (2012): What kind of European banking union, *Bruegel*, D121, A-2012, June

Schoenmaker, D. (2012): Macroprudential Supervision on Banking Union, VOX, 9 December

Seelig, S. and A. Novoa (2009): Governance Practices at Financial Regulatory and Supervisory Agencies, IMF Working Paper WP/09/135, available at: http://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/wp/2009/wp09135.pdf

Smits, R. (2012): Legal traps facing the ECB, Central Banking Journal, 12 December

Smits, R. (1997): The European Central Bank - Institutional Aspects, Kluwer Law International, The Hague



Stephanou, C.A. (2012): European Responses to the Sovereign Debt Crisis, in: Stephanou, C.A. and C.V. Gortsos: *Containing the Sovereign Crisis: European and Greek Responses*, ECEFIL Working Papers, No. 4, available at: http://www.ecefil.eu//UplFiles/wps/WORKING%20PAPER%20SERIES%202012_4.p df, pp. 9-44

Stephanou, C.A. and C.V. Gortsos (2012): *Containing the Sovereign Crisis: European and Greek Responses*, ECEFIL Working Papers, No. 4, available at: http://www.ecefil.eu//UplFiles/wps/WORKING%20PAPER%20SERIES%202012_4.p df

Tridimas, T. (2011): EU Financial Regulation: Federalization, Crisis Management, and Law Reform, in Craig, P. and G. de Búrca (2011, eds): *The Evolution of EU Law*, 2nd edition, Oxford University Press, Oxford, pp. 783-804

Veron, N. (2012): Europe's single supervisory mechanism and the long journey towards banking union, *Bruegel Policy Contribution*, Issue 2012/6, October







